

BACHELOR THESIS

Far-Left Party Family in Europe

The socioeconomic factors of far-left voting

Author: Maria Kostopoulou (4160064)

Supervisor: Costas Roumanias, professor at AUEB



DEPARTMENT OF INTERNATIONAL AND EUROPEAN ECONOMIC STUDIES

ATHENS UNIVERSITY OF ECONOMICS AND BUSINESS

Abstract

Radical left parties (RLPs) and radical right parties (RRPs) have been significant actors in many European party systems. However, the existing studies focus on a particular aspect of the far-left family at the time (e.g. Left-wing populism, New Radical Left) and observe only the more prominent and successful parties. This thesis considers all far-left parties as a part of the same political group. It includes a complete dataset of far-left parties in the 27 countrymembers of European Union, as well as UK, Iceland, Norway and Switzerland, from 2000 until 2014. It also includes minor political parties that have not been identified before. In the second part, it provides a cross-national empirical account of the variation in voting for RLPs across Europe, based on country-level data and NUTS2-dimensional aggregated data. It evaluates the effect of key socioeconomic variables on the RLP vote during the period 2002-2012 for both European and Parliamentary elections. The findings give evidence for the two main questions concerning far-left support. Is the traditional class cleavage still an essential factor of voting behaviour? Does support for RLPs appear as a protest vote during periods of economic distress? The results indicate that the far-left family keeps its traditional profile and still owns economic issues, such as income redistribution, taxation and labour rights. However, when it comes to periods of economic recession, RLPs may lose support. Moreover, this thesis shows that the class cleavage is diminishing; manual workers do not seem importantly attracted by the left-wing ideology anymore. Immigration and radical right party competition may be the reason.

This thesis shows the general tendencies of far-left support between 2002 and 2012. After 2012, populist left-wing parties gained ground; further analysis is needed on how these parties may have changed RLPs image and support.

<u>Keywords</u>: parties; radical left; Europe; electoral success; socioeconomic factors; class cleavage

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	6
Chapter I: The Far Left Party Family	8
The Radical Left Party Family	8
The Dataset	12
Chapter II: The Far Left Political Family's Electoral Support	20
Literature Review and Hypotheses	20
Methodology	22
Data Used	23
Results	25
CONCLUSION	30
REFERENCES	32

INTRODUCTION

During the last decade, the European far-left seems to have risen from the ashes. The economic crisis was an excellent opportunity for radical left parties, which claim to own economic issues from labour rights to income inequality. Indeed their support was increased and played the role of a protest vote against austerity measures (Beaudonne and Gomez, 2015). Moreover, it was the left-wing populist parties that saw the more significant electoral success, which even offered them public office and government participation (e.g. Podemos in Spain, SYRIZA in Greece)

Contrary to Radical Right Parties, Radical Left Parties have not received much attention. Both RRPs and RLPs severely criticise the mainstream political scene and seem to find fertile ground in periods of economic distress. RRPs and RLPs are against globalisation and promote trade morality and state interference. Nevertheless, the critique of RRPs concentrates on cultural and nationalistic issues; they do criticise the current economic policies, but they do not seem to promote a particular alternative to capitalism, other than a less globalised economy. Empirical studies attribute their success to anti-migration discourse.

On the other hand, RLPs are radical because they oppose the current order and advocate an alternative economic and political system (March, 2012; Fagerholm, 2017). RLPs may as well promote some social issues like egalitarianism, anti-imperialism, and environmentalism, but they always keep the economic perspective as their core. (Chiocchetti, 2017) The way they combine those issues or the degrees in which they advocate them, however, may differ significantly.

Far-left party family is indeed fragmented, and its particular features pose difficulties in both its theoretical and empirical analysis. Most studies, explaining the roots and dimensions of the far-left family, focus either on Western or Eastern Europe. Their different history and political past create different cleavages and social party ties. (Gomez et al., 2015) Moreover, data are often missing, or the existing far-left parties are not electorally significant to be considered as stable and universally accepted as part of a political family. (Fagerholm, 2017) Moreover, even the western far-left parties show a significant variation. They tend to own a variety of issues from labour rights and income redistribution to environmentalism to socialist revolution to nationalistic views. The question is if those differences are significant enough to divide far-left parties into separate political groups or families. March 2012 finds four subgroups: Conservative Communist, Reform Communist, Democratic Socialist, Populist Socialist and Social Populist; Fagerholm 2017: Conservative Communist, Reform Communist, "OLD" Democratic Socialist and "NEW" Democratic Socialist; Gomez, et al. 2015 does a more straightforward division: Old Left versus New Left Radical Left parties.

Left-wing populism is one more thing that interests scholars. Do populist radical left parties belong in the same group as other RLPs or should form a separate political family? Comparative studies show that populism can be strongly associated with the core radical right-and left-wing ideologies. (Charalambous and Ioannou, 2019; Salmela and Scheve, 2018; Stavrakakis et al., 2017) Populist discourse can also be found in mainstream parties -

especially in times of crisis when the public sentiment is more hostile. However, radical parties tend to use populist rhetoric more intensively. A party's radicalism may affect its degree of populism (Rooduijn and Akkerman, 2015), but that is not enough to conceive populist parties as a unique party family. Populism is a "thin" ideology or a political strategy. (Muddle and Kaltwasser, 2017)

Once one conceives radical left parties as a unified party family, one can explain their political success and study the profiles of their electorate. Like their theoretical analysis, the empirical studies of far-left parties focus on particular subgroups. (Sperber, 2010; Bowyer and Vail, 2011; Botella and Ramiro, 2003; Backes and Moreau, 2008) The studies by Visser et al. 2014 and Ramiro 2014 do use a comparative cross-national approach. Analysing individual data, they found similar results and changes in the traditional class cleavage. Visser et al. 2014 also used country-level data, for which not a significant association was found. The study showed, however, that RLPs tend to take support from protest voters during economic hardship. March and Rommerskirchen 2012 are the only study utterly concentrated on aggregate data in both Western and Eastern Europe. It focuses on external demand and support factors and finds a significant association among radical left voting, unemployment and political antagonism with other parties.

March 2012 sums up all the above issues. He supports that RLPs are similar enough to form a distinguished European political family and relevant enough to be observed. He studies RLPs as a unified party family throughout Western and Eastern Europe, and analyses the electoral success of RLPs. This thesis has a similar structure.

Chapter one analyses the particularities of far-left party family, and presents the existing RLPs in the 27 member-states of the European Union plus UK, Iceland, Norway and Switzerland. Based on the opinion of other experts and case studies, this thesis also focuses on minor far-left parties. Previous studies have only observed the more successful parties, alas the ones that have gotten more than the 3% of the national vote. Nevertheless, the far-left party family is mainly associated with various party splits due to ideological differences, organisational jealousies, and conflicts on the strategy of centre-left alliances. (Chiocchetti, 2017) With that in mind, I also identify every minor far-left party in Europe from 2002-2013. The complete dataset is then used in the second chapter, an empirical study explaining the electoral support of RLPs; it is a cross-national study using aggregate data both in nuts2 dimensional and country level. Chapter two reviews the role of some potentially influential variables that are thought to be linked to electoral support for RLPs on the demand side. The following section presents the data and the methodology used. The last part presents the relevant results and conclusion.

Chapter I: The Far Left Party Family

The Radical Left Party Family

A definition

"Far-left parties are those that define themselves as to the left of, and not merely on the left of social democracy, which they see as insufficiently left-wing or even as not left-wing at all." (March 2008) Left parties advocate the need for state intervention in the market economy and redistribution. The far-left parties do not think that the amount of state intervention in social democratic policies is enough. They either demand more radical measures or propose an alternative economic and social system.

According to Fagerholm 2017, radical left parties today should be distinguished by their emphasis on new left issues. In Western Europe, RLPs are those who lead in issues like the anti-growth economy, environmental protection, trade morality, social justice and anti-imperialism. The old issues, like market regulation, economic planning, Marxist analysis and labour groups, are supported only in a small degree and by a small number of parties. After the fall of communism, left parties wanted to escape the 'guilt by association'. However, far-left parties can still be defined by their support for a systematic change of the capitalistic and neo-liberal system either adopting the "new left" or the "old left" ideas. Even though both far-right and far-left parties share the same anti-establishment and anti-elitist attitudes, the RLPs combine their critique with socioeconomic issues whereas the RRPs with cultural issues and especially concerns about immigration.

The subtypes

Scholars usually divide far-left parties into two main subtypes: radical and extreme left parties. Radical left parties ask for democratic reforms like a direct democratic system and political reforms against the mainstream elites and in favour of the people. In economic issues, they don't support a centralized economy, but rather a mixed market economy with more significant state intervention and small or medium-sized enterprises, and they oppose themselves to globalization and privatizations. On the other hand, extreme left parties denounce any market organization, and they are against any compromise with neo-liberal policies. Moreover, they encourage the extra-parliamentary struggle and the revolutionary actions of the people towards social democracy. Even though there are not a lot of successful extreme far-left parties in Europe, almost every country has minor extreme organizations and parties.

Except for those two main categories, there are various other subgroups in the existing bibliography. Following March 2012 the far-left parties can be characterized by five different subtypes. The "Conservative" or "orthodox" communist are parties that want to "conserve" the former Soviet and Marxist model of political and social organization. The "Reform"

communist, on the other hand, they have discarded aspect of the Soviet model and adopted new left issues. Democratic socialist parties find themselves in opposition both to the totalitarianism of communist parties and to the "neo-liberal" social democracy. Parties belonging in this group adopt both old and new left issues.

The category of Populist Socialist parties is close to the Democratic Socialist, and we could also consider the first a subgroup of the latter. The difference is that they also have a populist ideology, meaning that they divide society between the moral, pure people and the elite and the establishment. Last, there is the category of Social Populist parties. Those parties are closer to classical populist movements; they don't have a stable organization, and they usually rely on the strong presence of a leader. Their ideology is not coherent; they want to present themselves as "catch-all" parties, with both left and right ideas, working for the "people". Those two reasons cause essential problems to the relevance of social populist parties. Some of the parties belonging to this group, according to March 2012 are characterized as far-right parties by other scholars because they support nationalistic attitudes.

The above categories are not coherent and create doubts concerning if we should define a distinguished far-left political family. Hence, in contrast to March, other scholars have questioned the existence of a homogeneous far-left group. Gomez et al. 2015 empirically studied this question. Combining data from the Comparative Manifesto Project (CMP), the Chapel Hill Expert Survey (CHES) and the European Election Studies (EES), they answered two questions: Are RLPs significantly heterogeneous in terms of their programmatic appeals? If they are, and thus appeal to different ideological and policy priorities, do the social background and attitudinal features of the voters also differ across RLP subtypes?

Based on their findings, RLPs should be categorized into two subtypes: the New Left RLPs and the Traditional RLPs, depending on the issues they emphasize. However, both of them do belong in the same broad group sharing common features. Their voters are also alike. They present, however, some interesting differences: New Left parties are more successful between more educated voters. Traditional Left parties are relatively more Eurosceptic than New Left. In the left-right scale, New Left voters are more centrist in relative terms.

Populism in the Far-left family

Following the economic recession, a wave of populist parties emerged from both left and right political groups. Populist parties are critical of the establishment and want to defend the "people" against it. They divide citizens in the "good" and "bad", and they present themselves as the only real voice of the "real", "good" people. What distinguishes left and right populists are the criteria they use to make this division. (Carlos de la Torre 2019) There is still an open debate if populism is an ideology, or it is more a strategic attitude, a type of political communication. If we see populism as an ideology, we can form a separate Populist Party family. If one supports the idea that populism is a way of political communication, it is not possible to identify a populist mode of political mobilization or organization. (Muddle 2015; Zaslove 2008; Stanley 2008; Kitschelt 2002)

Stijn van Kessel 2014 on the concept of populism to the contemporary European party systems distinguishes three different degrees or manifestations of populism. On the top of his ladder of abstraction of populist manifestations, there are the parties that use populist

discourse as a political strategy. In the middle, parties that regularly use populist rhetoric, and populism has begun their "raison d'être". Then in the last level of the ladder, there are "various party families that have populism as a defining feature", like 'populist radical right', 'neoliberal populism' and 'social populism'. Those parties combine the "thin" or "chameleonic" populist ideology with their core ideology.

The radical left and right parties seem to fall in that last category. The way they choose to divide "the people", affirms their core ideology. Right populist parties link their message to themes concerning immigrants; they use criteria of ethnicity, and they exclude minority populations. (Wodak, et al. 2015) On the other hand, left-populist parties construct the category of the "good" people as the majorities of their nations that were excluded by neoliberal or austerity policies imposed by supranational organizations like the IMF or the Troika (Ramiro and Gomez 2016).

Concluding, parties that respond to the definition of far-left parties are coherent enough, and I consider them as a part of the same political family. Parties belonging in the particular categories of Populist Socialist or Social Populist as defined by March also belong in the same far-left family. However, some of them, and especially parties in Central and Eastern Europe belonging in the Social Populist category, require further analysis, and they have been excluded.

The far-left family in Eastern Europe

Political history in Eastern Europe is very different. According to the United Statistics Division, Eastern Europe includes the countries of Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, Romania, Russian Federation, Slovakia, Belarus, Moldova, and Ukraine. There are various definitions, but for this research, it would be more suitable to define as "Eastern European" the countries under former communist regimes.

In contrast to Western Europe, those countries didn't have the time to stabilize their political party systems. The traditional political and social cleavages are not as clear as in western societies, and there are still changing and unclear structures of interest. (Cook 2006) As a result populist and "catch-all" parties are common, and their appeal prevents the establishment of any genuine radical far-left parties.

Voters in Eastern European countries can still identify themselves in the right-left political scale. Nevertheless, the definition of left may be slightly different. First, left parties in excommunist countries had to prove their disapproval of socialism that gave them a greater incentive to follow economic austerity policies and be more willing to engage in the free market. (Tavits and Letki 2009) Second, the social issues usually supported by left-wing parties, are not a big part of left parties in ex-communist countries. Their parties tend to focuse almost exclusively on economic issues. (Pop-Eleches and Tucker 2010) Lastly, as further details included in the next dataset show, the far-left parties in those countries have strong tendencies to left-wing populism and left-wing nationalism. That confuses their classification. Furthermore, even the far-left parties that can be classified are not significant or successful enough. Consequently, most of the scholars studying far-left parties choose not to include eastern European parties. However, especially after 2000, globalization, EU's geopolitical pull and the prospect of integration have caused a convergence in the party arena. (Lewis 2000;

Mudde 2007; March 2012). In consequence, and with the purpose to study far-left parties in Europe as a whole, this study also includes ex-communist countries.

The Dataset

The primary dataset used is in March 2012. Other experts are followed too for every country or party separately in order to classify minor parties or any other far-left party that the initial March dataset did not include. I divide the radical and extreme left parties when possible. This dataset offers a complete view of the existing RLPs, and it increases the observations for the empirical study in Chapter 2. Finally, this dataset also includes new RLPs that unfortunately, the final study doesn't include because their electoral support was missing. I mark the included party observations with '*.'

Austria

The Socialist Left Party* (PSL) and the Austrian Labor Party (PdA) are EFL. Both are minor parties, and as it comes to my concern, there are not any experts who have studied them. Their programs and manifestos include phrases like "takeover of the entire system by the public sector under the control of employees" and "the main goal of the socialist revolution and the building of socialism" which aligns with the definition of extreme parties. The Communist Party of Austria* is also considered as a far-left party since its program supports that a radical change is needed and the neoliberal culture of production has to be broken. According to (Weisskircher 2016), KOP had been somewhat successful because it owns the issue of houses in Styria, a state in the southeast of Austria. The Electoral Leftist Alliance (LINKE)* has also been observed. It was a minor coalition of left-wing movements and activists, such as the Communist Initiative, the Socialist Left Party and the League of the Socialist Revolution.

- Belgium

The Workers Party of Belgium* (PDVA- PTB) is at first an extreme far-left party. In its program for the legislative elections of 2003 talks about the need of social economy and democratic reform, and emphasizes at the idea that people need to turn down the neoliberal system. From the legislative elections of 2007 becomes a radical far-left party. The party was transformed and started building networks with other radical parties, like the Dutch Socialist Party, Die Linke in Germany and Syriza in Greece. The Left Socialist Party* (PSL/LSP) is an EFR. According to its program, it wants to offer a social alternative through workers struggle that will create a capture with the current capitalist system. PSL/LSP has also formed a coalition with the Revolutionary Communist League* (LCP). In 2010 the "Front de gauche"* was created, a coalition by syndicates, left-wing activists and the following parties: the Communist Party (PC), the Revolutionary Communist League (LCR), the Left Socialist Party (PSL), the Committee for Another policy, the Humanist Party (PH), and the party Vélorution. I observed both of these coalitions and considered them as extreme left parties. Their classification was intuitive, based on their support for workers revolutionary movements against the liberal order.

- Bulgaria

The Bulgarian Socialist Party, the leader in the Coalition for Bulgaria, was classified as a radical far-left party until the parliamentary elections of 2001. (March 2012) Coalition for Bulgaria cannot be identified as radical left anymore since its goal is to unite left and centreleft parties. (Spirova 2008) Bulgaria also has a lot of minor orthodox extreme communist parties or coalitions of them. In the study, I include the Bulgarian Workers' Socialist Party* (BWSP), the Bulgarian Communist Party "Fatherland"* (BCP_F) and the Bulgarian Workers' Party* (BWP). A particular case in Bulgaria's politics is ATAKA. There is not a full consensus between the academics if it is a left or a right party. Its position towards NATO and EU and its efforts to build a better relationship with Russia resembles orthodox communist parties. (Ghodsee 2008) However, it believes in state sovereignty in economic policy, approaches economic problems from a nationalist perspective, and it does not refer to the class struggle (Marinos, 2015). Therefore it is often identified as a far-right party. This study, following the Georgiadou et al. 2018 classification, considers it as a radical far-right party.

- Croatia

Croatia has significant far-left parties. (March, 2012) However, this dataset identifies four minor parties as far-left. Three new parties Worker's Front (2014), New Left (2016) and Zagreb Is Ours (2017) may signal the start of a new radical left platform in Croatia (Buble et al. 2018). However, they are very new organizations, and there is not enough evidence to be classified. This study also classifies the Socialist Labor Party* (SRP) as a radical far-left party based on its declarations and statements. Specifically, in the 2015's Party Declaration, it states that Trade Union participation should be compulsory. The state should intervene as much as necessary in economic life and reject any privatization.

- Cyprus

Cyprus has only one radical FLP and one of the most successful ones: Progressive Party of the Working People* (AKEL). (March 2012)

Czech Republic

The Communist Party of Bohemia and Moravia* (KSČM) was an extreme conservative communist party until 2005 and then an extreme reformist communist party. (March, 2012) The dataset also includes the Party of Democratic Socialism* (SDS). It is a radical far-left party. Its manifestos support democracy, political and social rights but also make clear that the party is fundamentalist opponent of capitalism and ask people to liberate themselves from the ways of capitalistic production.

Denmark

The Socialist People's Party* (SF) and the Red-Green Alliance-Unity List* are radical and extreme left parties respectively. (March, 2012) The Red- Green Alliance- Unity List is considered extreme left until the 2007 legislative elections. For the elections of 2011 is considered radical. The Workers' Communist Party of Denmark (APK) and the Communist

Party are minor parties for which I could not gather information from other expert's articles and studies. However, according to their websites, both aim to a transition to socialism, and they present themselves as extreme left parties. Finally, Folkeringen is a new radical movement and party inspired by Podemos.

- Estonia

Estonian United Left Party* (EÜVP) and Estonian United People's Party* (EÜRP) have been both classified as radical RLPs. (March 2012)

Finland

Left Alliance* (V) is a radical far-left party (March 2012). The Greens is also a post-industrial radical far-left party. The Greens may prioritize the environment, but they are not a pure green party since they also cover a lot of economic and social issues (Kim O.K. Zilliacus, 2001). They reject economic growth, they support the creation of flexible democratic structures closer to direct democracy, and they would like to see the EU enforcing an eco-tax and act as a counterbalance to the market economy. Finland also has three minor communist parties. The Communist Workers Party* (KTP) and the Communist League* are orthodox communist parties believing in workers struggle and a new communist society. The Communist Party of Finland* (SKP) is a reform communist party. In its program in 2007, it criticizes the Soviet Union and talks about a modern Socialism with social economy and sustainable economy.

- France

March 2012 identifies two far-left parties: the Communist Party* (PCF) as a radical far-left party and the New Anti-Capitalist Party (NPA) as an extreme far-left party. However, France has a vibrant radical left political scene. PCF leads in the Front de gauche, a radical left coalition in the European Parliament, along with the Parti de gauche (Left Party) (PG) and the Gauche Unitaire (United Left) (GU). The Left party, United Left, Republic and Socialism, Federation for a Social and Ecological Alternative, Worker's Struggle* (LO), Revolutionary Communist League* (LCR) and the French Communist Party of Workers (POCF) are only some of the minor radical and extreme far-left parties that exist in France (Pascal 2014). Most of those organizations were founded during the previous financial crisis. Unfortunately, detailed election results from the more recent elections weren't available. The final empirical study includes only the Communist Party, the Revolutionary Communist League and the Worker's Struggle.

Germany

The Party of Democratic Socialism* (PDS), as the successor of the ruling Socialist Unity Party of Germany (SED) in East Germany, is considered as a radical far-left party. In 2007 it merged with the Electoral Alternative for Labor and Social Justice (WASG) to a new party called The Left* (LINKE), which is a radical far-left party (March 2012). Germany also has one Trotskyist party, the Socialist Equality Party* (PSG), and two anti-revisionist communist

parties, the Marxist–Leninist Party of Germany* (MLPD) and the German Communist Party* (DKP).

- Greece

Greece has a wide variety of radical left parties, either concentrated in old or new political issues. March 2012 gives us two of the most successful far-left parties in Greece: the Communist Party of Greece* (KKE) classified as a conservative extremist far-left party and the Syriza* classified as a radical far-left party until 2015. After 2015, some radical left-wing members left Syriza and formed their radical parties, like Popular Unity (LAE) which is against NATO, the EU and the globalization and supports the formation of new, more socialist labour laws (Moschonas, 2013) and the Course of Freedom (Plefsi Eleftherias). Except for KKE, Greece also has a significant number of minor extremist Marxist and Trotskyist parties, such as the Workers Revolutionary Part* (EEK), the Organization for the Reconstruction of the Communist Party of Greece* (OAKKE), the Marxist-Leninist Communist Party of Greece* (mlKKE) and the -almost identical- Communist Party of Greece (Marxist-Leninist)* (KKEml). According to Panayiotakis 2015, there are also: the Internationalist Workers' Left (DEA), the Communist Organization of Greece (KOE) and the Front of the Greek Anticapitalistic Left* (ANTARSYA). Synaspismos* is also a radical far-left party until 2013 (Moschonas, 2013). Today a part of Synaspismos is merged in Unified Popular Front (EPAM) and another in Syriza.

- Hungary

Hungarian Worker's Party* (Munkáspárt) is a minor orthodox communist party. It is in favour of China and accuses "the capitalistic political order" of propaganda against communism. A new party, Politics Can Be Different (LMP), founded in 2009, could also be a far-left party. It is mainly a green party but embraces the left ideology and rejects the current economic model and globalization in the name of environmental protection. (Fabian, 2010) The party has not been self-identified, and there isn't enough evidence to be classified with confidence.

Iceland

Iceland has two radical FRP: the Left-Green Alliance* (VG) (Andreas Fagerholm 2017; March 2012) and the Rainbow* (RB). Rainbow was founded in 2013 by former members of VG who shared more Eurosceptic ideas. In its Policy Statement, the Rainbow emphasizes all key issues of the left and shares a more radical opinion towards European institutions and market economy.

- Ireland

The Socialist Party* (SP) is an extreme far-left party and Sinn Fein* (SF) a radical far-left party (March 2012). Éirígí is a new socialist, eurosceptic and environmentalist party, which is a radical far-left party (McCabe 2015). Workers' Party* (WP) and Socialist Worker's Party* (SWP) manifestos and party statements also indicate that they are extreme orthodox communist parties. What is important about Ireland's left political scene is the appearance of

various left movements and anti-austerity movements during the crisis in the last decade. Organizations like that are People Before Profit and Solidarity.

Italy

Italy has five identified radical far-left parties: the Party of Communist Refoundation (PRC) and the Party of Italian Communists (PdCI) (March 2012), Left Ecology Freedom (Andreas Fagerholm, 2017; Tsakatika and Lisi, 2013), L'Altra Europa – Con Tsipras (Beaudonne and Gomez 2015) and the Workers' Communist Party* (PCL). PCL's manifesto states its support for social revolution and communist political and economic model. The Five Star Movement (M5S) could also be a radical left-wing party. M5S is a particular case with many contradictions. It started as an "anti-party", initially emphasizing on environmental issues, endorsement of radical democracy and criticism of the current economic system. However, it also endorses views typically supported by radical right parties, such as criticism of immigration, hard stance against the political class and opposition to the EU (Gagliardi, 2016). The common consensus between academics is that the M5S is a populist "catch-all" party (Franzosi et al. 2015; Lanzone and Woods 2015; Bordignon and Ceccarini 2013). According to Nicola Maggini 2014, M5S reached left-wing and far-left voters during the first years of its existence (2011 and 2012), when it was mostly known as a social movement. However, in February 2013, 35,3% of its supporters were self-placed in the left, 18,8% in the centre, 29,7% in the right and 16,2% weren't self-placed. Therefore M5S is not considered as left-wing in this dataset. Unfortunately, due to a lack of data about electoral support, only the PCL has been observed in the main study.

Latvia

Latvia has two extreme far-left parties, Latvian Socialist Party* (DP) and Latvian Unity Party (March 2012). Latvian Unity Party dissolved in 2001. Latvia Socialist Party participated in the elections either as a member of the social-democratic, centre-left Harmony Centre coalition (parliamentary election 2006, 2010, 2011) either as a member in the Latvian Russian Union (parliamentary election 2002). Since the votes in the data represent the support of the coalitions as a whole, it is not possible to measure the support for the party. The empirical study includes it in the European elections of 2004.

- Lithuania

Lithuania has only one social populist, radical far-left party the Labor Party* (DP). (March 2012)

Luxembourg

The Left* is a radical left party according to March 2012. The Communist Party of Luxembourg* is an extreme left party based on its symbol and website. In 2009 several radical left movements also created the Citizen's List, a protest party against the Lisbon Treaty.

The Netherlands

March 2012 identifies the Socialist Party* as a radical far-left party.

Norway

Norway has two radical far-left parties: the Socialist Left Party* (SP) (March 2012) and the Red Party* (Rødt). (Seierstad, 2012) Red is the merger of the Worker's Communist Party and the Red Electoral Alliance* (RV).

Poland

Poland does not have far-left parties. However, the party Self-Defence (SRP) belongs to the group of Social Populist where radicalism is "both inconsistent and largely rhetorical". (March, 2012) Parties that usual belong in that group fuse "(...) left-wing and right-wing themes behind an anti-establishment appeal. Most of these parties are not acknowledged as left-wing by the radical left". (March, 2012, p.112). Moreover, in the Georgiadou et al. 2018 dataset, the SRP is classified and analyzed as a far-right party. Hence, even though scholars recognize its radicalism, in this study, it is considered a radical right party.

- Portugal

Portugal has a successful radical far-left party, Left Block* (BE) (March 2012). There are three communist parties: the Portuguese Communist Party* (PCP), the Workers Party of Socialist Unity* (POUS) and the Portuguese Workers' Communist Party/Re-Organized Movement of the Party of the Proletariat* (PCTP/MRPP). PCP is an extremist conservative communist party in the March 2012 data base. It is also leading the Unitary Democratic Coalition* (CDU) along with the Ecologist Party "The Greens" (PEV). The CDU also belongs in the extreme far-left family both in national and European politics. (Beaudonne and Gomez, 2015) The last two are minor conservative communist parties whose political character was evident by their manifestos and statements.

- Romania

According to March 2012 dataset, Romania has two far-left parties. The Socialist Labor Party* (PSM) is an extreme far-left party until 2003 and the Romanian Social Democratic Party (PSDR) a radical far-left until the parliamentary elections of 2000. March also refers to the remaining radical left part of PSM that formed the new Socialist Alliance* party (PAS). However, it has not gained any general support, and it is still a minor party.

Slovakia

March 2012, identifies the Party of Civic Association as a radical far-left party, and the Communist Party of Slovakia* (KSS) and the Union of Workers in Slovakia* (ZRS) as extreme far-left parties. Direction—Social Democracy (SMER) is a particular case. According to March 2012, SMER is radical far-left party, and it belongs in the Social Populist category. On the report of CEEIdentity, a think-tank specialized in Eastern Europe's politics; SMER is a

party that needs further analysis. Specifically, in its analysis of SMER's manifesto in 2012, CEEIdentity states: "For liberal types, the manifesto is not sufficiently liberal, for national conservative type the national coloured issues are not sufficiently nationalist. Therefore, we categorize the manifesto to the right-wing liberal type, focusing on the perception of the EU, culture, and national minority." Hence, this study does not observe SMER's electoral support.

- Slovenia

Slovenia has no far-left parties. However, the parties Sustainable Economy of Slovenia (TRS) and Initiative of Democratic Socialism (IDS) which later formed The Left could be far-left parties. Both support excessive state intervention, regulation of financial markets and a different economic model, but there is not enough evidence for their identification.

- Spain

Spain has a vibrant left political scene, with a vast number of far-left parties that very often merge or form coalitions. The United Left-Izquierda Unida* (IU) is a successful radical left coalition. (Fagerholm, 2017) Its leader is the Communist Party of Spain* (PCE), a reformist extremist left party according to March 2012 database. However, IU has formed its own party identity and lately seems closer to centre-left, since it becomes a more office-seeking party that wants to be seen as an alternative to the Socialist Workers' Party (PSOE) (Ştefuriuc and Verge, 2008). For this study, the IU is still a radical left party. For the parliamentary elections in 2011, IU formed a coalition with various green and minor extreme left parties, the Plural Left*, which also belongs in the far-left family in the European Parliament. Podemos, a successful radical far-left party in Spain, has also formed a coalition with the IU, the Unidos Podemos. Far-left can also be successful only inside some different states and regions. One example is Nós-Unidade Popular, an anti-imperialist and anti-capitalist far-left party in Galicia. Finally, Spain has three minor extremists, Trotskyist political parties: the Revolutionary Anti-capitalist Left*, the Internationalist Socialist Workers' Party* and the Communist Unification of Spain. The electoral appeal of those three has only been observed for the European Elections of 2009.

Sweden

The Left* (VP) is a radical far-left party (March 2012). There are also two minor communist parties, the Communist Party (K) and the Communist Party of Sweden (SKP) for which there are no sufficient sources. Nevertheless, they are extreme far-left parties because of their symbols, slogans, and manifestos.

- Switzerland

The Swiss Party of Labor* (PDA) is a radical far-left party (Gomez et al. 2015; Hug and Schulz, 2007). Solidarity* (SOL) is also a minor far-left party. Its manifesto supports workers initiative towards the creation of a socialist alternative against capitalism.

- United Kingdom

The United Kingdom has two radical far-left parties (March 2012): Respect* and Scottish Socialist Party*. The People Before Profit (PBP) could also be identified as a radical FLP since it emphasizes key left issues such as housing, national security expenses and workers power. However, more information is needed.

Chapter II: The Far Left Political Family's Electoral Support

Literature Review and Hypotheses

Since recently, FL parties had not received much attention from scholars, comparing to their other-edge component- Far Right parties. Most of the empirical studies focus either on case studies either on specific aspects of RLPs such as populism or Euroskeptisism (Beaudonnet and Gomez, 2016; Bowyer and Vail 2011; Sperber 2010; Vail 2009 Hough et al., 2007; Wessels 2007; Hooghe and Marks 2007). During the last decade, however, the far-left family has gained back the attention it deserves. More studies today try to explain the electoral success of the far-left family as a whole and compare left and right radicalism.

Radical Left Parties are radical because they reject the socioeconomic structure of capitalism and left because they want to introduce a new economic system based on income redistribution and state control. (Bale & Dunphy, 2011; Dunphy & Bale, 2011; March, 2012; March & Rommerskirchen, 2012; Rooduijn and Burgoon, 2017) Economic issues are the existential purpose and concern of RLPs (March, 2012).

Following this definition, I assume that in countries where income redistribution and public expenditure is low, voters incline more in left-wing ideologies.

H1: Disposable income and public expenditure affect the far-left support negatively.

This hypothesis, however, should be moderated by indicators of socioeconomic distress. Historically, the communist parties thrived in countries with intense socioeconomic problems. (Gherghina, 2011; Bartolini, 2000) Recent studies also focus on periods of economic distress, and they test whether the far-left support also emerges as a protest vote. (Rooduijn and Burgoon, 2017; Gomez et al., 2016; March and Rommerskirchen, 2012; Bowyer & Vail, 2011)

Income inequality can be a socioeconomic negative sign. A high Gini coefficient causes dissatisfaction about how the "system" works. Voters may come closer to left-wing radicalism, according to which an alternative economic system would solve the excessive inequalities. (Visser et al., 2013; Bowyer and Vail, 2011)

H2: An increase in Gini coefficient affects the far-left support positively.

Additionally, people affected by those inequalities may oppose taxes on products. Taxes on products are considered to deepen inequalities. (Gans, 1974; Kesselman, 1977) They disproportionately affect lower-income households, which consume a larger percentage of their income.¹

¹ Lower-income households cannot save or invest a considerable amount of their income. The most significant percentage of their earning is consumed in products and services. Therefore these households pay more on products and more taxes than the rest, as a percentage of their income (not in absolute values). Moreover, according to

H3: Tax on products affects the far-left support positively.

Finally, politically the most sensitive indicator of economic insecurity is unemployment. (Bohrer and Tan, 2000) Indeed, the unemployment rate may cause feelings of disappointment and anger that radicalise voters. RLPs prioritise labour issues and social security. (March and Rommerskirchen, 2012; Visser et al., 2013) Therefore, I expect that the higher the unemployment rate, the higher the far-left support.

H4: The unemployment rate increases far-left voting.

What has not been tested is whether involuntary part-time employment (IPT) is associated with FL vote. Individuals work part-time due to either unfavourable business conditions, or because they could not find full-time employment. (Cajner et al., 2014) Part-time employment has always been a way for the employers to reduce labour costs, during periods of economic recession, and recovery periods. (Tilly, 1991) Counter-cyclical variation is critical for the IPT rate. However, "there are also a number of secular or slow-moving market factors, such as industry structure" (Valletta et al., 2016 p.8) that can bring a structural change in IPT rates. (Cajner et al. 2014)

No matter the cause, the inability to find a full-time job causes a sentiment of injustice. RLPs' agenda prioritises labour rights. They advocate the need for an alternative against the "unjust capitalist economic system". As a result, they may gain support in countries where the current economic structure fails to assure a stable work.

H5: When involuntary part-time employment (IPT) increases, FL support increases.

We should not ignore that far-left vote is also associated with specific ideological convictions and social-class 'niches'. The literature considers the working class as the electoral base of RLPs (Michelat and Simon, 2004). What is the working class today? The traditional class cleavage is decreasing. Union membership declines; the unionised and traditional industries in Western countries are reducing (Gray and Caul, 2000; Norris, 2008). Recent studies show that even if trade union membership is still statistically significant (Ramiro 2014), there is no difference between manual and non-manual workers (Visser et al. 2013). The traditional blue-collar worker's profile does not seem to fit anymore. As Ramiro, 2014 puts it, "Radical Left inroads into new middle-class electorates". After the '90s, radical left adopted new social issues from environmentalism to anti-war movements to feminism and gender equality. RLPs enriched their core ideology with issues more appealing to the middle class rather than the lower one.

One more reason why RLPs may have lost their traditional voters is the competition from the right. As mentioned in the previous chapter, RRPs advocate more national and cultural issues. While the class cleavage decreases, globalisation cleavage increases, and RRPs made

the Competition and Markets Authority (CMA), consumers on low incomes cannot engage in markets effectively; they tend to lack consumer literacy, and they face difficulties in markets, which causes them to lose potential offers and discounts.

an excellent political opportunity out of it. (Brigevich, 2018; Santana & Rama, 2018; Kriesi et al., 2008) Globalisation has created losers and winners, and it polarises society. RRPs blame immigrants. Immigrants usually compete in the job market with blue-collar workers, and they offer a low-cost labour force. Therefore, blue-collar workers feel threatened, and they tend to seek "protection" in RRPs, rather than RLPs that do not own such issue. With that in mind, I test the following hypothesis:

H6a: "Contrary to popular belief, manual workers do not vote for RLPs."

H6b: "Manual rate decreases far-left support, supposing that when radicalised, manual workers vote for RRPs."

H7: "Union membership increases far-left support."

Finally, I assume that radical vote today is associated with the country's political past. A country's authoritarian regime may create different dynamics and social links. Indeed, Visser et al., 2013 found that people who live in a country with a legacy of an authoritarian regime are more likely to vote for RLPs than people who do not live in a country with this type of heritage.

Following Visser et al., 2013, I create a dichotomous variable named "autoregime", which equals to 1 if a country had an authoritarian regime from 1945 onwards. This also includes countries that had right-wing totalitarian regimes (e.g. Spain, Greece). I use this variable because like Visser et al. I believe that it is merely the authoritarian past, regardless of orientation, that creates those particular attitudes. In the case of a left wing authoritarian regime, people today (especially the oldest ones) may experience "communist nostalgia". In the case of right-wing regimes, it was the radical left movements that organised the resistance; there still might be a grateful feeling towards them. The model in Table 3 uses this variable to compare different results for the hypotheses H1-H7 depending on one's country political past.

Methodology

Studying electoral success is subject to numerous methodological difficulties. First, attempting an almost complete geographical coverage of Europe increases the heterogeneity between regions and countries. That said the use of panel estimators is imperative. Second, our sample is a mixture of observations with zero and positive values. But those zero values can be missing values, susceptible to a selection bias. The sample selection bias arises from the fact that we only observe support for RLPs in regions where such parties exist or in regions where electoral support is above a critical level, and data are available. Following Jackman and Volpert 1996, I run a Tobit regression that replaces the missing values with zero values and treats them as left-censored data. By introducing regional/country dummies in Tobit estimators, we deal with both heterogeneity and zero values. Those dummies, however, in a non-linear model, may cause the incidental parameters problem. Following Georgiadou et al. 2018, I solve this problem with Honoré's (1992) panel-Tobit estimator, which also does not sacrifice the need for dealing for heterogeneity.

I run five regressions. Model 1 is a fixed-effects and population-averaged linear model; Model 2 is a Tobit regression that left-censors the FL vote and uses the robust or sandwich estimator of variance; Model 3 implements the estimators in Honoré (1992). Model 4 and 5 include the variable "autoregime". Model 4 shows the results for the countries that had an authoritarian regime. To evaluate the fit of the model, I take into account only the pseudo- R² Honoré's (1992) estimator. Once again, following the methodology used in Georgiadou et al. 2018, the prime concern is the consistent estimation of the effects of the covariates, rather than prediction. Moreover, Tobit model's higher fitness might be somewhat misleading; when we introduce a large number of dummies in a short T panel, the increased fit might be a sign of overfitting.

Data Used

As mentioned before, the empirical study tests the above hypothesis in nuts2 dimensional and country-level aggregate data, for the 27 member states of the European Union as well as UK, Iceland, Norway and Switzerland, from 2002 – 2013. For the independent variables, I use data from Eurostat, OECD and the World Bank. I include GDP per capita in Purchasing Power Standards (PPS), real growth rate, unemployment rate, and the long-term unemployment rate in nuts2 level. In the country level, I include the Gini coefficient, public expenditure, taxation on products, the rate of involuntary part-time employment, immigration rate, and the density of trade union members and manual workers.

There are various ways to measure the electoral success: percentage of national electoral support, obtaining of public office, participation in government, or seats obtained in the parliament. The choice of the appropriate measure depends on focus of analysis, party type and data availability. This empirical study considers not just the strongest party but the overall RLP performance. Therefore, the dependent variable is the vote share in every parliamentary and European election from 2002-2012. Table 1 shows the parties observed, as explained in Chapter 1.

Except for the party dataset that this thesis presents, there are the Chapel Hill expert surveys dataset and the Manifesto Project. The Manifesto project has been an effective data monopoly for over 40 years, and it is used to the majority of cooperative political studies. Scholars have often accused the Manifesto Project for noisy and non-reliable variation in party positions. (Benoit et al., 2009; Meyer and Jenny, 2013) Until 2009, each point was based on a single coding by a human coder and came with no estimate of associated error, creating a stochastic error from multiple independent human interpretative codings of the master documents. (Mikhaylov et al., 2012) In 2009, the Manifesto Project became the digitized Manifesto Corpus, which converts the documents to a machine-readable format and implements a digitized document coding procedure; Manifesto Corpus may resolve some methodological problems mainly by increasing the transparency of the data production. (Merz et al., 2016) However, it still "inherits some of the points of criticism related to the Manifesto Project's approach: such as the coding scheme (Zulianello, 2013), the use of proxy documents (Gemenis, 2012) and the reliability of the coding (Mikhaylov et al., 2012)." (Merz et al., 2016 p. 6)

On the other hand, Chapel Hill expert survey seems a more valuable and reliable instrument; however, their validity has been called into question as well. Critics believe that experts may have different personal attitudes towards the left-right axis, which leads to different results, and questions the cross-national comparability of those surveys. Nevertheless, those fears have not been proven. Various studies suggest that CHES data display quite high levels of inter-expert reliability. (Steenbergen and Marks, 2007; Lindstädt et al., 2018) This thesis also supports that following experts and case studies surveys are the most reliable. Instead, however, to follow the CHES data, I chose to create a unique dataset, in

order not only to add more observations but also to make those observations more understandable to the reader and myself.

The data for the electoral results applied in this thesis is based on material from the "European Election Database"². The data are collected from original sources, prepared and made available by the NSD - Norwegian Centre for Research Data (NSD)³.

Table 1: Party Observations

Country	Party	
Austria	Socialist Left Party (PSL), Communist Party of Austria (USSR), Electoral Leftist Alliance (LINKE)	
Belgium	Workers Party of Belgium (PDVA- PTB), Left Socialist Party (PSL/LSP), Revolutionary Communist League (LCP)	
Bulgaria	Bulgarian Workers' Socialist Party (BWSP), Bulgarian Communist Party "Fatherland" (BCP_F), Bulgarian Workers' Party (BWP)	
Croatia	Socialist Labor Party (SRP)	
Cyprus	Progressive Party of the Working People (AKEL)	
Czech Republic	Communist Party of Bohemia and Moravia (KSČM), Party of Democratic Socialism (SDS)	
Denmark	Socialist People's Party (SF), Red-Green Alliance-Unity List	
Estonia	Estonian United Left Party (EÜVP), Estonian United People's Party (EÜRP)	
Finland	Left Alliance (V), Communist Workers Party (KTP), Communist League, Communist Party of Finland (SKP)	
France	Communist Party (PCF), Worker's Struggle (LO), Revolutionary Communist League (LCR)	
Germany	The Party of Democratic Socialism (PDS), The Left (LINKE), the Socialist Equality Party (PSG), Marxist–Leninist Party of Germany (MLPD), German Communist Party (DKP)	
Greece	Communist Party of Greece (KKE), Syriza, Workers Revolutionary Part (EEK), Organization for the Reconstruction of the Communist Party of Greece (OAKKE), Marxist-Leninist Communist Party of Greece (mlKKE), Communist Party of Greece (Marxist-Leninist) (KKEml), The Front of the Greek Anti-capitalistic Left, Synaspismos	
Hungary	Hungarian Worker's Party (Munkáspárt)	
Iceland	Left-Green Alliance (VG), Rainbow (RB)	
Ireland	The Socialist Party (SP), Sinn Fein (SF), Workers' Party (WP), Socialist Workers' Party (SWP)	
Italy	Communist Party (PCL)	
Lithuania	Labor Party (DP)	

² The database publishes regional election results according to the Nomenclature of Territorial Units for Statistics (NUTS), level 1 to 3. Data are collected from national election authorities, national statistical agencies and other official sources.

_

³ NSD is not responsible for the analyses/interpretation of the data presented here.

Luxembourg	The Left, The Communist Party of Luxembourg
The Netherlands	The Socialist Party
Norway	Socialist Left Party (SP), Red Party (Rødt)
Portugal	Left Block (BE), Portuguese Communist Party (PCP), Workers Party of Socialist Unity (POUS), Portuguese Workers' Communist Party/Re-Organized Movement of the Party of the Proletariat (PCTP/MRPP)
Romania	Socialist Labor Party (PSM), Socialist Alliance Party (PAS)
Slovakia	Communist Party of Slovakia (KSS), Union of Workers in Slovakia (ZRS)
Slovenia	No parties observed
Spain	United Left-Izquierda Unida (IU), Communist Party of Spain (PCE), Plural Left, Revolutionary Anti-capitalist Left, Internationalist Socialist Workers' Party
Sweden	The Left (VP)
Switzerland	The Swiss Party of Labor (PDA), Solidarity (SOL)
United Kingdom	Respect, Scottish Socialist Party

Results

The results in Table 2 confirm hypotheses H2. H3. H4 and H5, concerning the effect of economic conditions. Gini coefficient (H2), tax on products (H3), unemployment (H4) and involuntary part-time (H5) have a strong association with the support for RLPs. Especially the IPT coefficient has the most significant impact on RL vote. A 1% rise in IPR coefficient, increases far-left support by 54% (p<0.01). Accordingly, a 1% rise in unemployment gives rise 10% in RLPs voting share (p<0.1).

H1 is partially confirmed. Disposable income is not statistically relevant in any of the three regressions. However, we observe a strong negative relationship between public expenditure and far-left support (p<0.01). However, we also need to take into account the efficiency of public expenditure and investments. Voters do not evaluate the amounts spent, but the results of such policies. Public expenditure may rise because of corruption, of high administration costs Etc.

Like Ramiro 2014, union membership affects the support for RLPs positively (p<0.01). Manual workers, however, do not vote for RLPs. Ceteris paribus, when the percentage of manual workers increases, the FL support decreases. Those results verify the H6 and H7 hypotheses and indicate that the traditional class cleavage, or at least the way we use to observe it in European societies has changed. RLPs today compete with RRPs for what it used to be the RL's traditional electoral base, blue-collar workers. If "Radical Left inroads into new middle-class electorates" (Ramiro 2014) is yet to be seen; those results cannot be conclusive, and further research is necessary.

Table 2: Support for RLPs

WADIADIEC	(1)	(2)	(3)
VARIABLES	FE	Tobit	Honoré
Disposable Income	0.0000	0.0000	0.0003
Disposable meome	(0.0001)	(0.0001)	(0.0003)
	(0.0001)	(0.0001)	(0.0001)
Unemployment	10.9799***	10.0293***	17.0067*
	(3.6123)	(3.1268)	(10.1322)
Involuntary part-time	54.1141***	35.6174***	195.5339***
	(10.0299)	(9.2362)	(44.6791)
Gini coefficient	0.0572*	0.1312***	0.4318*
Olin coefficient	(0.0372) (0.0308)	(0.0410)	(0.2510)
	(0.0308)	(0.0410)	(0.2310)
Public expenditure	-0.0004***	-0.0005***	-0.0022***
- waste talk talk talk talk talk talk talk talk	(0.0001)	(0.0001)	(0.0006)
	,	,	,
Taxation on products	1.1376***	1.2116***	2.3231***
	(0.1677)	(0.1387)	(0.3896)
I Inion manharahin	0.0966***	0.1321***	0.1813***
Union membership			
(Density in nuts2)	(0.0213)	(0.0225)	(0.0369)
Manual workers	-20.7891***	-27.9077***	-48.7937***
(% in nuts2 population)	(5.3449)	(5.5651)	(12.2530)
Immigration	-0.0296*	-0.0545**	-0.0407
	(0.0179)	(0.0217)	(0.0984)
Constant	-8.2839*	-5.7341	
Constant	-8.2839** (4.3909)		
	(4.3909)	(3.8710)	
Observations	496	496	496
R-squared	0.6530		
Number of nuts_2	181		

Robust standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Even though I do not have a hypothesis concerning the country's immigration level, I test for the percentage of immigrants (of the total population). According to the first two models in Table 2, the immigration coefficient is negative and statistically significant. In the Honoré (1992) regression, however, immigration stops being significant. We may assume that, with all equal, an increase in immigration level decreases the far-left vote because of the increase of far-right support. However, studies about the causal effect of immigration on electoral preferences are not yet conclusive. Several studies find contradictory results and mention that the association between immigration and electoral support is not straight forward. (Lonsky, 2020; Georgiadou et al., 2018; Sørensen, 2016; Gochenour and Nowrasteh, 2014)

To further test my results, in Table 3, I run the same Honoré model as in Table 2, but with fixed year effects. My goal is to exclude the influence of aggregate trends which have nothing to do with the causal relationships. The base year is 2002. The years 2003 and 2012 have been omitted. The coefficients for involuntary part-time, Gini coefficient, union membership and manual workers percentage are similar with Table 2. Nevertheless, we observe some contradictory results. The unemployment rate is not statistically significant when controlled for fixed year effects. Public expenditure seems to harm RLPs support, as expected, but the coefficient is not statistically significant. Taxation on products, however, does have a significant association with far-left support (p<0.01), but this time the casual relationship is negative. When the tax on products increases, the far-left vote decreases. Finally, one should consider the robustness of the model when testing with fixed year effects. One solution will be to check if the results are more robust with a linear model. Nevertheless, this is not tested in this thesis.

Table 3: Fixed Year Effects

VARIABLES	Base Year 2002
Disposable Income	-0.0001 (0.0001)
Unemployment	-1.6261 (2.0324)
Involuntary part-time	217.6137*** (57.8917)
Gini coefficient	1.0367*** (0.2302)
Public expenditure	-0.0209 (0.0163)
Taxation on products	-0.0012*** (0.0004)
Union membership (Density in nuts2)	2.8528*** (0.4912)
Manual workers (% in nuts2 population)	-37.7991** (19.0015)
Immigration	11.6944 (10.4234)
Observations	496

Standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1 Honoré When testing for the different political past, we observe some interesting results. Table 4 and Table 2 show the same results for H1. Gini coefficient is statistically significant for both country categories. However, it has a positive impact in countries with authoritarian past, and a negative one in countries which do not have such a heritage. The outcome of unemployment coefficient also poses some questions. Whereas in Table 2 has a significant positive effect, in Table 4 has a negative impact that is statistically important only in countries without authoritarian past. The results for H2 and H4 show that in countries without a totalitarian heritage (mainly the western European ones) far-left vote does not function as a protest vote against economic distress. However, Table 4 shows that involuntary part-time is a crucial variable in countries without an authoritarian regime in the past (p< 0.01). In contrast, in countries without such heritage, the impact of IPT is negative and non-significant Hypothesis 3 is accepted for both country categories. Tax on products has a positive and significant association. However, it has a greater impact in countries without a totalitarian heritage.

Table 4: The effect of authoritarian regimes in FL vote

	(1)	(2)
VARIABLES	Authoritarian Past	No Authoritarian Past
Disposable Income	-0.0000**	-0.0000
Dispositore meome	(0.0000)	(0.0000)
Unemployment	-1.3786	-0.4585*
r	(0.9015)	(0.2784)
Involuntary part-time	-1.5672	462.3078***
• 1	(1.4140)	(22.9941)
Gini coefficient	0.0317***	-0.2649***
	(0.0065)	(0.0158)
Public expenditure	-0.0000	-0.0019***
•	(0.0000)	(0.0001)
Taxation on products	0.0539***	3.0191***
•	(0.0159)	(0.1491)
Union membership	0.0074***	0.3505***
(Density in nuts2)	(0.0023)	(0.0183)
Manual workers	-3.4755***	10.0822***
(% in nuts2 population)	(0.9671)	(0.7076)
Immigration	-0.0275***	0.0944***
	(0.0049)	(0.0053)
Observations	239	257

Standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

The association of trade union membership and far-left support remains the same in Table 4. For both categories, it has a high level of significance (p< 0.01). When it comes to H6 and the class cleavage, we see that the percentage of manual workers is statistically significant for both country categories, but with the opposite association. In countries with authoritarian past, manual workers percentage decreases far-left support, whereas in countries without an authoritarian past it has a positive effect. The countries without a totalitarian heritage are mainly the western European countries; the ones where the class cleavage has a longer history and stronger fundamentals. As a result, it is reasonable to see union membership density and manual workers percentage to have a more significant positive impact in those countries.

Nevertheless, the most striking result is the coefficient of immigration. This time, the Honoré model in Table 4, finds immigration statistically relevant (p< 0.01), but with opposite results. In countries with an authoritarian past, immigration decreases support for RLPs; in countries without an authoritarian past, immigration increases support for RLPs.

Finally, when we analyze the above results, we should keep in mind that the number of observations in Table 4 (less than 300 in each column) maybe is not enough to extract safe results.

CONCLUSION

This thesis gives evidence for three main questions regarding RLPs. Is far-left a coherent party family? What are the socioeconomic factors that determine far-left support? Is far-left voting a protest vote?

In Chapter I, I analyzed the far-left party family and its particular features. RLPs advocate the need for an alternative to the capitalist economic system. Their ideological core consists of socioeconomic issues; they usually demand more state intervention and more labour rights. However, it is a highly fragmented family. Ramiro, 2016 empirically tested if we should consider all RLPs as a part of the same political family. According to his findings, we could divide far-left parties into two categories: "Old" Left parties and the "New" Left parties, depending on how much they have adopted "new politics" issues. Nevertheless, the voters' profiles remained the same (Ramiro, 2016; March, 2012), so I presided to the empirical study considering far-left party family as unified.

The party data set also includes minor far-left parties that have not been identified before. Scholars may use it to understand better the multiple faces of RLPs by country. The FL family suffers from leadership rivalries and organizational differences. As a result, RLPs split into smaller organizations and lose their influence. This thesis tried not to "penalize" FL support for this particular circumstance and all the minor parties, whose support was included in the European Election Database, have been included in the empirical study.

I run three models with the same research question, in order to find the socioeconomic factors determining the FL support. The most accurate one is the Honoré model (1992). All the models in Table 2 prove my initial hypotheses, except for the first part of the HI. The disposable income is not statistically significant. The economic issues seem to be the most critical factors. The unemployment rate, tax on products, and the Gini coefficient affect the RLPs positively. Public expenditure has a significant negative association with FL voting. When it comes to the class cleavage, whereas the trade union participation still affects the RLPs positively, the manual workers' percentage has a robust negative association, indicating that RLPs might compete with the RRPs for their old electoral base, blue-collar workers.

The most interesting result in this empirical study is the coefficient of involuntary part-time employment. Scholars usually test for the unemployment country rate or the employment status of an individual. However, the IRT rate of a country can also be very enlightening about the market conditions in the economy. When people are obliged to get a part-time job that does not meet their needs, because of an economic recession or because of weak labour rights, they seek for a political power that advocates the need of a change in the market structure. RLPs have labour rights and equal opportunities as a priority.

Variables like unemployment, IPT, public expenditure, taxation and Gini coefficient can show periods of economic distress. RLPs can have indeed both ideologically committed electorate and protest voters. In order to test further, whether the FL vote can also be a protest vote, I run the same Honoré (1992) model as in Table 2 with fixed year effects. My initial hypotheses are confirmed, but the most indicating variable, the unemployment rate, does not have a statistically significant association with far-left support. Further research on the recent European economic crisis and the ascension of populist radical left parties may shed more

light on this question. Hence, in order to have more conclusive results, one needs to analyze both demand and supply-side factors during periods of distress.

Even though I considered all RLPs as members of the same political family, the empirical study showed evidence against this initial assumption. There were differences between voters from countries without an authoritarian past and voters from countries with an authoritarian past. The Gini coefficient, manual workers percentage and immigration had opposite results. In countries with a long democratic history (mainly the Western European countries), the class cleavages remain stronger. Manual workers in those countries still support RLPs. It is not easy, however, to interpreter the immigration impact. To do so, we have to look closer to the supply side. What is the competition with RRPs? What are the differences between old and new left parties according to the immigration level?

One more significant difference is the coefficient of the involuntary part-time (IPT). Whereas in the first column, it has a relatively small, negative and no statistically significant impact, in the second column, it has a very significant positive association. Consequently, I attribute the important results of IPT in table 2 only to the parties in countries without a totalitarian heritage. In countries with old and solid political ties, the voters' expectations are higher. Voters in such countries are used to high democratic representation and demand efficiency by their politicians (Berger, 2009). On the other hand, in countries with an authoritarian past, voters may not know their rights or may not feel comfortable yet to pursue them via the relatively new political scene.

Consequently, we should not underestimate the fact that far-left is a highly fragmented family. RLPs adopt different "new politics" issues and advocate different levels of radicalism. Their support is sensitive to one's country context and political past, making it difficult to study west and eastern RLPs simultaneously.

The empirical study shows only general tendencies of FL voting factors, which align with previous studies (Ramiro, 2016; Visser et al., 2013; March, 2012) All the aggregated variables above generally remain important through the years, but the different decades pose different challenges to RLPs. To have the full picture, we have to look both in the supply and demand side of the FL family. I hope that the complete data set in this thesis will help the more profound understanding of the FL party family.

REFERENCES

- Bakker, R., de Vries, C., Edwards, E., Hooghe, L., Jolly, S., Marks, G., Polk, J., Rovny, J., Steenbergen, M., & Vachudova, M. A. (2012). Measuring party positions in Europe. Party Politics, 21(1), 143–152. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354068812462931
- Bale, T., & Dunphy, R. (2011). In from the cold? Left parties and government involvement since 1989. Comparative European Politics, 9(3), 269–291. https://doi.org/10.1057/cep.2010.12
- Bartolini, S. (2000). Collusion, Competition and Democracy. Journal of Theoretical Politics, 12(1), 33–65. https://doi.org/10.1177/0951692800012001002
- Beaudonnet, L., & Gomez, R. (2016). Red Europe versus no Europe? The impact of attitudes towards the EU and the economic crisis on radical-left voting. West European Politics, 40(2), 316–335. https://doi.org/10.1080/01402382.2016.1222806
- Benoit, K., Laver, M., & Mikhaylov, S. (2009). Treating Words as Data with Error: Uncertainty in Text Statements of Policy Positions. American Journal of Political Science, 53(2), 495–513. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5907.2009.00383.x
- Berger, S. (2009). Organizing Interests in Western Europe (Cambridge Studies in Modern Political Economies). Cambridge University Press.
- Bohrer, R. E., & Tan, A. C. (2000). Left Turn in Europe? Reactions to Austerity and the EMU. Political Research Quarterly, 53(3), 575–595. https://doi.org/10.1177/106591290005300307
- Bordignon, F., & Ceccarini, L. (2013). Five Stars and a Cricket. Beppe Grillo Shakes Italian Politics. South European Society and Politics, 18(4), 427–449. https://doi.org/10.1080/13608746.2013.775720
- Bowyer, B. T., & Vail, M. I. (2011). Economic Insecurity, the Social Market Economy, and Support for the German Left. West European Politics, 34(4), 683–705. https://doi.org/10.1080/01402382.2011.572387
- Brigevich, A. (2018). Cueing the radical voter. Party Politics, 135406881880832. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354068818808324
- Budge, I., Klingemann, H., Volkens, A., Bara, J., & Tanenbaum, E. (2001). Mapping Policy Preferences: Estimates for Parties, Electors, and Governments 1945-1998. Oxford University Press.
- Charalambous, G., & Ioannou, G. (2015). No bridge over troubled waters: The Cypriot left in government, 2008-2013. Capital & Class, 39(2), 265–286. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309816815587078
- Charalambous, G., & Lamprianou, I. (2014). Societal Responses to the Post-2008 Economic Crisis among South European and Irish Radical Left Parties: Continuity or Change and Why? Government and Opposition, 51(2), 261–293. https://doi.org/10.1017/gov.2014.35
- Chiocchetti, P. (2016). The Radical Left Party Family in Western Europe, 1989-2015 (Routledge Studies in Radical History and Politics) (1st ed.). Routledge.
- Colomer, J. M. (2008). Comparative European Politics: Political Institutions in Europe (3rd ed.). Routledge.
- Direction Social democracy (Smer Sociálna demokracia, Smer SD). (2013). National Identity in CEE. http://www.ceeidentity.eu/database/manifestoescoun/direction
- Dunphy, R., & Bale, T. (2011). The radical left in coalition government: Towards a comparative measurement of success and failure. Party Politics, 17(4), 488–504. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354068811400524
- Fábián, K. (2010). Can politics be different? The Hungarian Green Party's entry into Parliament in 2010. Environmental Politics, 19(6), 1006–1011. https://doi.org/10.1080/09644016.2010.518688
- Fagerholm, A. (2017). What is left for the radical left? A comparative examination of the policies of radical left parties in western Europe before and after 1989. Journal of

- Contemporary European Studies, 25(1), 16–40. https://doi.org/10.1080/14782804.2016.1148592
- Franzosi, P., Marone, F., & Salvati, E. (2015). Populism and Euroscepticism in the Italian Five Star Movement. The International Spectator, 50(2), 109–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/03932729.2015.1030273
- Gagliardi, A. (2016). Beppe Grillo's Five Star Movement: Organisation, Communication and Ideology. Journal of Modern Italian Studies, 21(3), 528–530. https://doi.org/10.1080/1354571x.2016.1169902
- Gans, H. (1974). More equality: Income and taxes. Society, 11(2), 62–72. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02695195
- Gemenis, K. (2013). What to Do (and Not to Do) with the Comparative Manifestos Project Data. Political Studies, 61(1_suppl), 3–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9248.12015
- Georgiadou, V., Rori, L., & Roumanias et al., C. (2018). Mapping the European far right in the 21st century: A meso-level analysis. Electoral Studies, 54, 103–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electstud.2018.05.004
- Gherghina, S. (2011). Does government performance matter? Electoral support for incumbents in six post-communist countries. Contemporary Politics, 17(3), 257–277. https://doi.org/10.1080/13569775.2011.597144
- Ghodsee, K. (2008). Left Wing, Right Wing, Everything: Xenophobia, Neo-totalitarianism, and Populist Politics in Bulgaria. Problems of Post-Communism, 55(3), 26–39. https://doi.org/10.2753/ppc1075-8216550303
- Gochenour, Z., & Nowrasteh, A. (2014). The Political Externalities of Immigration: Evidence from the United States. SSRN Electronic Journal, 20–35. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2500485
- Gomez, R., Morales, L., & Ramiro, L. (2015). Varieties of Radicalism: Examining the Diversity of Radical Left Parties and Voters in Western Europe. West European Politics, 39(2), 351–379. https://doi.org/10.1080/01402382.2015.1064245
- Goodwin, M. J., & Heath, O. (2016). The 2016 Referendum, Brexit and the Left Behind: An Aggregate-level Analysis of the Result. The Political Quarterly, 87(3), 323–332. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-923x.12285
- GRAY, M. A. R. K., & CAUL, M. I. K. I. (2000). Declining Voter Turnout in Advanced Industrial Democracies, 1950 to 1997. Comparative Political Studies, 33(9), 1091–1122. https://doi.org/10.1177/0010414000033009001
- Hawkins, K. A., & Rovira Kaltwasser, C. (2018). Measuring populist discourse in the United States and beyond. Nature Human Behaviour, 2(4), 241–242. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-018-0339-y
- Honore, B. E. (1992). Trimmed Lad and Least Squares Estimation of Truncated and Censored Regression Models with Fixed Effects. Econometrica, 60(3), 533. https://doi.org/10.2307/2951583
- Hooghe, L. (2007). What Drives Euroskepticism? European Union Politics, 8(1), 5–12. https://doi.org/10.1177/1465116507073283
- Hough, D., & Koß, M. (2009). A Regional(ist) Party in Denial? The German PDS and its Arrival in Unified Germany. Regional & Federal Studies, 19(4–5), 579–593. https://doi.org/10.1080/13597560903310345
- Hug, S., & Schulz, T. (2007). Left—Right Positions of Political Parties in Switzerland. Party Politics, 13(3), 305–330. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354068807075938
- Jackman, R. W., & Volpert, K. (1996). Conditions Favouring Parties of the Extreme Right in Western Europe. British Journal of Political Science, 26(4), 501–521. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0007123400007584
- Kesselman, J. R. (1977). Tax Instruments and Economic Equality. The Canadian Journal of Economics, 10(2), 289. https://doi.org/10.2307/134446
- Kitschelt H. (2002) Popular Dissatisfaction with Democracy: Populism and Party Systems. In: Mény Y., Surel Y. (eds) Democracies and the Populist Challenge. Palgrave Macmillan, London. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781403920072_10

- Klingemann, H., Volkens, A., Bara, J., & Budge, I. (2007). Mapping Policy Preferences II: Estimates for Parties, Electors and Governments in Central and Eastern Europe, European Union and OECD 1990-2003 Includes CD-ROM (v. 2) (First Edition). Oxford University Press.
- Kriesi, H., Grande, E., Lachat, R., Dolezal, M., Bornschier, S., & Frey, T. (2008). West European Politics in the Age of Globalization. Cambridge University Press.la Torre, C. . d. e. (2019). Is left populism the radical democratic answer? Irish Journal of Sociology, 27(1), 64–71. https://doi.org/10.1177/0791603519827225
- la Torre, C. . d. e. (2019). Is left populism the radical democratic answer? Irish Journal of Sociology, 27(1), 64–71. https://doi.org/10.1177/0791603519827225
- Lanzone, L., & Woods, D. (2015). Riding the Populist Web: Contextualizing the Five Star Movement (M5S) in Italy. Politics and Governance, 3(2), 54–64. https://doi.org/10.17645/pag.v3i2.246
- Lindstädt, R., Proksch, S.-O., & Slapin, J. B. (2018). When Experts Disagree: Response Aggregation and its Consequences in Expert Surveys. Political Science Research and Methods, 8(3), 580–588. https://doi.org/10.1017/psrm.2018.52
- Lonsky, J. Does immigration decrease far-right popularity? Evidence from Finnish municipalities. J Popul Econ (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00148-020-00784-4
- Maggini, N. (2014). Understanding the Electoral Rise of the Five Star Movement in Italy. Politologický Časopis Czech Journal of Political Science, 21(1), 37–59. https://doi.org/10.5817/pc2014-1-37
- March, L. (2012). Radical Left Parties in Europe (Routledge Studies in Extremism and Democracy) (1st ed.). Routledge.
- March, L., & Rommerskirchen, C. (2012). Out of left field? Explaining the variable electoral success of European radical left parties. Party Politics, 21(1), 40–53. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354068812462929
- Marinos, M. (2015). Anti-Neoliberal Neoliberalism: Post-Socialism and Bulgaria's "Ataka" Party. TripleC: Communication, Capitalism & Critique. Open Access Journal for a Global Sustainable Information Society, 13(2), 274–297. https://doi.org/10.31269/triplec.v13i2.641
- McCabe, C. (2015). The Radical Left in Ireland. Socialism and Democracy, 29(3), 158–165. https://doi.org/10.1080/08854300.2015.1084697
- Merz, N., Regel, S., & Lewandowski, J. (2016). The Manifesto Corpus: A new resource for research on political parties and quantitative text analysis. Research & Politics, 3(2), 205316801664334. https://doi.org/10.1177/2053168016643346
- Meyer, T. M., & Jenny, M. (2013). Measuring error for adjacent policy position estimates: Dealing with uncertainty using CMP data. Electoral Studies, 32(1), 174–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electstud.2012.08.003
- Mikhaylov, S., Laver, M., & Benoit, K. R. (2012). Coder Reliability and Misclassification in the Human Coding of Party Manifestos. Political Analysis, 20(1), 78–91. https://doi.org/10.1093/pan/mpr047
- Moschonas, G. (2013). A New Left in Greece: PASOK's Fall and SYRIZA's Rise. Dissent, 60(4), 33–37. https://doi.org/10.1353/dss.2013.0095
- N. (2008). Democratic Phoenix. Cambridge University Press.Ramiro, L. (2014). Support for radical left parties in Western Europe: social background, ideology and political orientations. European Political Science Review, 8(1), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1755773914000368
- Panayiotakis, M. (2015). The Radical Left in Greece. Socialism and Democracy, 29(3), 25–43. https://doi.org/10.1080/08854300.2015.1090833
- Pascal, D., & Delwit, P. (2014). LES PARTIS POLITIQUES EN FRANCE (SOCIOLOGIE POLITIQUE). UNIV BRUXELLES.
- Ramiro, L., & Gomez, R. (2016). Radical-Left Populism during the Great Recession: Podemos and Its Competition with the Established Radical Left. Political Studies, 65(1_suppl), 108–126. https://doi.org/10.1177/0032321716647400

- Rooduijn, M., & Akkerman, T. (2015). Flank attacks: Populism and left-right radicalism in Western Europe. Party Politics, 23(3), 193–204. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354068815596514
- Rooduijn, M., & Burgoon, B. (2017). The Paradox of Well-being: Do Unfavorable Socioeconomic and Sociocultural Contexts Deepen or Dampen Radical Left and Right Voting Among the Less Well-Off? Comparative Political Studies, 51(13), 1720–1753. https://doi.org/10.1177/0010414017720707
- Rose, R., & Munro, N. (2009). Parties and Elections in New European Democracies (second edition). ECPR Press.
- Salmela, M., & von Scheve, C. (2018). Emotional Dynamics of Right- and Left-wing Political Populism. Humanity & Society, 42(4), 434–454. https://doi.org/10.1177/0160597618802521
- Santana, A., & Rama, J. (2018). Electoral support for left wing populist parties in Europe: addressing the globalization cleavage. European Politics and Society, 19(5), 558–576. https://doi.org/10.1080/23745118.2018.1482848
- Seierstad, D. (2012). The Left In Norway: Politics in a centre-left government (B. Daiber, C. Hildebrandt, & A. Striethorst, Eds.). Rosa Luxemburg Foundation.
- Simon, M., & Michelat, G. (2004). LES OUVRIERS ET LA POLITIQUE (ACA 2). SCIENCES PO.SPERBER, N. A. T. H. A. N. (2010). Three million Trotskyists? Explaining extreme left voting in France in the 2002 presidential election. European Journal of Political Research, 49(3), 359–392. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6765.2009.01901.x
- Spirova, M. (2008). The Bulgarian Socialist Party: The long road to Europe. Communist and Post-Communist Studies, 41(4), 481–495. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postcomstud.2008.09.005
- Stanley, B. (2008). The thin ideology of populism. Journal of Political Ideologies, 13(1), 95–110. https://doi.org/10.1080/13569310701822289
- StataCorp. 2015. Stata Statistical Software: Release 14. College Station, TX: StataCorp LP.
- Stavrakakis, Y., Katsambekis, G., Nikisianis, N., Kioupkiolis, A., & Siomos, T. (2017). Extreme right-wing populism in Europe: revisiting a reified association. Critical Discourse Studies, 14(4), 420–439. https://doi.org/10.1080/17405904.2017.1309325
- Sørensen, R. J. (2016). After the immigration shock: The causal effect of immigration on electoral preferences. Electoral Studies, 44, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electstud.2016.06.009
- STEENBERGEN, M. A. R. C. O. R., & MARKS, G. A. R. Y. (2007). Evaluating expert judgments. European Journal of Political Research, 46(3), 347–366. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6765.2006.00694.x
- Ştefuriuc, I., & Verge, T. (2008). Small and Divided Parties in Multi-Level Settings: Opportunities for Regional Government Participation, the Case of Izquierda Unida in Spain. South European Society and Politics, 13(2), 155–173. https://doi.org/10.1080/13608740802156588
- Tsakatika, M., & Lisi, M. (2013). 'Zippin' up My Boots, Goin' Back to My Roots': Radical Left Parties in Southern Europe. South European Society and Politics, 18(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/13608746.2012.758447
- Vail, M. I. (2009). Left of Eden: The Changing Politics of Economic Inequality in Contemporary Germany. German Politics, 18(4), 559–576. https://doi.org/10.1080/09644000903349408
- Valletta, R. G., Bengali, L., & van der List, C. (2016). Cyclical and market determinants of involuntary part-time employment. Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco, Working Paper Series, 01–42. https://doi.org/10.24148/wp2015-19
- Van Biezen, I. (1998). Building party organisations and the relevance of past models: The communist and socialist parties in Spain and Portugal. West European Politics, 21(2), 32–62. https://doi.org/10.1080/01402389808425244

- Visser, M., Lubbers, M., Kraaykamp, G., & Jaspers, E. (2013). Support for radical left ideologies in Europe. European Journal of Political Research, 53(3), 541–558. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6765.12048
- Weisskircher, M. (2017). The Electoral Success of the Radical Left: Explaining the Least Likely Case of the Communist Party in Graz. *Government and Opposition*, 54(1), 145–166. https://doi.org/10.1017/gov.2017.14
- Weßels, B. (2007). Discontent and European Identity: Three Types of Euroscepticism. Acta Politica, 42(2–3), 287–306. https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.ap.5500188
- Wodak, R. (2015). The Politics of Fear: What Right-Wing Populist Discourses Mean (1st ed.). SAGE Publications Ltd.Zaslove, A. (2008). Here to Stay? Populism as a New Party Type. European Review, 16(3), 319–336. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1062798708000288
- Wolfreys, J. (2008). Regroupment and Retrenchment on the Radical Left in France. Journal of Contemporary European Studies, 16(1), 69–82. https://doi.org/10.1080/14782800801970268
- Zaslove, A. (2008). Here to Stay? Populism as a New Party Type. European Review, 16(3), 319–336. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1062798708000288
- Zilliacus, K. O. K. (2001). 'New politics' in Finland: The greens and the left wing in the 1990s. West European Politics, 24(1), 27–54. https://doi.org/10.1080/01402380108425416
- Zulianello, M. (2013). Analyzing party competition through the comparative manifesto data: some theoretical and methodological considerations. Quality & Quantity, 48(3), 1723–1737. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-013-9870-0